IN THE SUPREME Court OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

TEX B/ SIMMONS,

Appellant.

v.

II. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS OF THE CASE

On January 2, 2007 Tex B. Simmons was indicted by a Grand Jury in Morgan County, West Virginia charging in Count I the crime of Sexual Assault in the First Degree and Sexual Abuse by a Custodian.

On November 17, 2008 a pretrial was held in the Circuit Court of Morgan County and the trial was held on November 18 and 19, 2008.

On the morning of trial, the Prosecution represented to the Court that the child victim talked to her the night before and stated she could not remember what happened. (Tr 11-17-08. P. 184). Based upon that statement the Court declared the child to be "unavailable". (Tr. 11-17-08 P. 200). The Court went on to say that the statement made to the mother, the forensic nurse and the officer bore particular indicia of the reliability and would admitted into evidence. Defense counsel objected to the testimony and was overruled.

At the trial of this case, the alleged victim's mother testified over objection "and at 7:30 Amanda came to me and she stated that last night Tex put his pee-pee in my mouth and peed and kept it there until I swallowed." (Tr. 11-19-08, pg. 13)

Defense counsel then objected and the Court restated its prior ruling that the statement of the child to the mother, the officer and the forensic nurse could come in because of the child's lack of recollection made her unavailable.

Later Cynthia Leahy, a forensic nurse at Winchester Medical Center, testified that on April 7, 2006, the day after the alleged assault took place, she interviewed the child. During that interview the child told her:

A. She told me that she was asleep on the couch in her house. And while she was still asleep - she didn't refer to any body parts, but she said something was placed in her mouth. (Tr. 11-19-08, pg. 67)

Defense counsel then objected to the testimony, which was overruled by the Court. She went on to say that the child said:

A. And something came out of it, and it tasted yucky. And she also told me that

she had cried earlier that day because she still had a yucky taste in her mouth from that. (Tr. 11-19-08, pg. 67)

**ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR AND THE MANNER IN WHICH THEY WERE
DECIDED IN THE LOWER TRIBUNAL**

1. That the lower Court erred in allowing the testimony of the child to be admitted into evidence through the testimony of the mother, forensic nurse and police officer after the child said she didn't remember what happened.¹

¹This Court in its Order granting the appeal limited the defenses to this issue.

POINTS AND AUTHORITIES RELIED UPON

Crawford v. Washington 541 U. S. 36 (2004)

Ohio v. Roberts, 448 U.S. 56 (1980)

State v. Walker 188 W. Va. 661, 425 S. E. 2d 616 (1992)

State v. James Edwards 184 W. Va. 408, 400 S. E. 2d 843 (1990)

State v. Shrewsbury 213 W.Va. 327 (2003)(per curiam)

State v. Pettry, 209 W.Va. 449 , 549 S.E2d 323 (2001))

State v. Payne, No. 34889 (2010)

In Re Marriage of Misty D. G. v. Rodney L. F. 221 W.Va. 144, 650 S.E.2d 243 (2007)

West Virginia Rule of Evidence 804(b)(5)

West Virginia Rules of Evidence Rule 803 (4)

DISCUSSION OF THE LAW

Standard of Review

Discussion

1. That the lower Court erred in allowing the testimony of the child to be admitted into evidence through the testimony of the mother and forensic nurse after the child said she didn't remember what happened.

This case breaks down into two areas. The first is the testimony of the mother who testified at trial to what the child told her happened. At the trial the child told the prosecutor and later testified that she could not remember what happened.

The second area is the testimony of the forensic nurse at Winchester Medical Center in Winchester, Virginia. The Court allowed the testimony of the forensic nurse.

In both cases the defense objected to the testimony at a pre trial hearing and again when the testimony was offered.

A. The testimony of the mother:

In Crawford v. Washington 541 U. S. 36 (2004) the United States Supreme Court had the opportunity to address the issue of the use of an out of Court statement against a Defendant when the declarant did not testify at trial.

In Crawford the Defendant's wife gave a statement to authorities during interrogation but did not testify at trial because of the marital privilege.

The trial Court admitted the statement under the provision of Ohio v. Roberts, 448 U.S. 56 (1980) which allows such statements against a criminal Defendant from an unavailable witness when the statement bears "adequate indicia of reliability" a test that is met when the evidence either falls within a "firmly rooted hearsay exception" or bears "particularized guarantee of trustworthiness". Id. 66. The State Supreme Court upheld the conviction.

The United States Supreme Court reversed the conviction holding that the use of the wife's statement violated the confrontation clause because where testimonial statements are at

issue, the only indication of reliability sufficient to satisfy constitutional demand is confrontation.

In reaching its conclusion, the Court looks to the confrontational clauses historical background as well as the test. This history supports two principles: the first is the principle evil at which the clause is directed where the civil law made particularly the use of ex parte examination as evidence against the accused. The clauses primary objection is testimonial hearsay. Second the Framers would not allow these testimonial statements of witnesses who did not appear at trial unless the witnesses were unavailable to testify and that the Defendant had a prior opportunity for cross examination.

The Court found that the confrontational clause commands that reliability be assessed in a particular manner: by testifying in the crucible of cross examination.

Rule 804 of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence covers statements made by a declarant that is unavailable. In certain cases Rule 804(b)(5) allow a statement where (1) the statement is to a material fact; (2) the statement is more probative on a point and (3) the general purposes of the rules will be satisfied by admission.

In State v. James Edwards 184 W. Va. 408, 400 S. E. 2d 843 (1990) the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals outlined that the use of the residual exception contained in Rule 804(b)(5) is presumptively unreliable but where there is a particularized guarantee of trustworthiness the statement may be admissible.

In State v. Walker 188 W. Va. 661, 425 S. E. 2d 616 (1992) the Court reiterated the principle that hearsay that is not firmly rooted in a hearsay exception is not admissible, except where the State can make a particularized guarantee of trustworthiness.

In this case it is important to note that all of the West Virginia cases were decided prior to Crawford. Those cases used the same logic as was found by the trial Court and Washington State Supreme Court in Crawford. It essentially used the logic of Roberts that the United States Supreme Court discredited.

In this case the testimony of the mother is inherently flawed. She testified that she had memory problems. (Tr. 11-19-08 p. 40) Chanin Kennedy, a forensic psychologist testified that

the Mother was an “invalid reporter” (Tr. 11-19-08 p. 115) She went on to testify that Ms. Charlene Simmons, the mother, had a brain injury and that her ability to remember was compromised. She said:

She’s not someone who is very good at organizing her thoughts, at providing information and accurately providing information regarding long-term events or even short-term events really. She’s very poor at this due to her brain injury. (Tr. 11-19-09 p. 116)

She went on to say:

As I testified before, the word encoding means your ability to see something, to experience something, and then to store it in your brain so that later on, you can pull it back up and use it for whatever purpose. And her ability to store that information is very compromised due to her car accident. (Tr. 11-19-08 p 116)

From the above it is clear that the court’s finding that the mother’s testimony was consistent with the Rule and the cases is incorrect. At that point in time the court should have declared a mistrial and retried the defendant.

B. The testimony of the forensic nurse:

This Court also looked at this issue from another angle. In State v. Shrewsbury 213 W.Va. 327 (2003)(per curiam) this Court looked at the admission of these statements from the view of allowing the testimony using a West Virginia Rules of Evidence Rule 803 (4) “Statement for Purposes of Medical Diagnosis or Treatment.” In Syllabus point 8 the Court talked about the statement made for the purpose of treatment.

During the course of the trial, a forensic nurse made numerous statements regarding what the victim had allegedly said to her about the involved incident. (Tr 11/19/08 p. 66-67, p. 71-72) Defense counsel objected to these statements as hearsay. (Tr. 11/19/08 p.12, p. 67) The nurse often referred to her “report”(That “report” is actually a “Forensic Exam Form”, item # 206 11/18/08 Docket Sheet). The State moved and the Court allowed that document to be admitted into evidence under the hearsay exception found in West Virginia Rule of Evidence 803 (4) or

803 (6) .

While reports of physical exams and therapy sessions by counselors and psychologist are admissible under the “Medical Diagnosis and Treatment” hearsay exception (See, State v. Pettry, 209 W.Va. 449 , 549 S.E2d 323 (2001)) reports related to forensic investigations, such as was conducted here where DNA samples are collected (Tr. 11/18/08 p. 202-203) are not.

In Re Marriage of Misty D. G. v. Rodney L. F. 221 W.Va. 144, 650 S.E.2d 243 (2007)

In this case the nurse was a forensic nurse. Her job was to determine if the child had been sexually abused. She was not in any way a treater. She was an arm of the police who is trained to gather evidence.

Much was made over the child witness being unavailable. In looking at the issue of unavailability we need to look at the timing.

West Virginia Rule of Evidence 804(b)(5) has the further requirement that “however a statement may not be admitted under this exception unless the proponent of it makes known to the adverse parties sufficiently in advance of the trial or hearing to provide the adverse party with a formal opportunity to meet it . . .”.

A review of the transcript of the trial essentially showed that the State did disclose the unavailability of the witness on the morning of trial. The time frame was less than what is necessary to prepare a defense. The fact that the State waited until the day of the trial to interview the child witness to determine the state of her memory meant that the trial needed to be continued.

We should use the same analysis as the statement to the mother when we look at the statement made to the forensic nurse. Reliability of the statement is the key to the admissibility of the statement.

In State v. Payne, No. 34889. A case decided one and one-half months ago we had the exact same situation. It was the same court, the same nurse, and the same prosecutor.

In that case this court made great moment of the fact that the statement made by the 12 year old child was made for a “Dual purpose” at p. 7. The child testified that she did not know

what a forensic nurse was but that she knew that Ms. Leahy was a “nurse”.

The court also took note that the mother testified in court that the child was taken to the hospital to be “checked”. At p. 9. All of the indicia was that the child in the Payne case might have in fact been examined for treatment purposes. At no time did the court or prosecutor inquire of this 4 year old what was in her mind when she went to the nurses office. Given the nature of this offense there was no physical treatment that was necessary or even possible.

Where there is no intention for the interview to be for treatment purposes it cannot fulfill the “Dual Purpose” role. In this case it was purely to collect evidence for the authorities. There can be no other conclusion.

In this case the child did not testify at all. The child was allowed to stand on her lack of recollection of the facts and circumstances surrounding the case. She was declared unavailable.

A review of footnote 7 from Payne shows that this court is fully aware of requirements of Crawford v. Washington when it recognized that the out of court declarant was subject to cross examination in the trial.

Crawford requires that when the testimony of an out of court declarant is used in a trial the constitution of the United States requires that the statement have first been confronted by the defendant and had the opportunity to cross examine that statement.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

Your Appellant would pray that this Court reverse his conviction and grant him a new trial..



James T. Kratovil ID #2103
KRATOVIL & AMORE PLLC
211 W. Washington Street
Charles Town, WV 25414
kratovil@charlestownlaw.com