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

V. Argument

A. THE TESTIMONY OF THE MOTHER AND THE NURSE WERE PROPERLY ADMITTED INTO EVIDENCE BECAUSE THE CHILD WAS AN UNAVAILABLE WITNESS DUE TO LACK OF MEMORY.

The child, A.M., was ruled to be unavailable due to lack of memory after the Court heard her testimony and allowed counsel for defendant to cross examine the minor. (Trial Tr. vol. 1, 261-72.) According to West Virginia Rules of Evidence 804(a)(3), when a witness lacks the memory of the subject matter of his or her statements then the witness can be ruled to be unavailable. After hearing testimony of A.M., the court ruled that the words she used were those of a child and not those of a witness being coached by her mother. (Trial Tr. vol. 1, 282.) The court found that A.M. “had no memory of events that transpired at the time of the events alleged in this indictment.” (Trial Tr. vol. 1, 281.) Because the witness lacked memory of the subject matter of her statement, the trial court properly found that the witness was unavailable.

When a declarant is determined unavailable, W. Va. R. Evid. 804(b)(5) allows statements with “circumstantial guarantee of trustworthiness” to be admissible if:

“(A) a statement is offered as evidence of a material fact; (B) that statement is more probative on the point for which it is offered than any other evidence which the proponent can procure through reasonable efforts; and (C) the general purposes of these rules and the interest of justice will be best served by admission of the statement into evidence.”

A.M.’s statements to her mother and the nurse are both evidence of material fact and probative because the statements led Sharlene to take her daughter to the hospital and seek treatment for A.M and led the nurse to perform an examination of A.M.

1. **Does the Mother's testimony of her daughter's statement 2 and ½ years ago, contain the "circumstantial guarantee of trustworthiness" required by Rule 804 in light of mother's past brain damage and memory problems.**

The Appellant challenges the admissibility of the mother's testimony as "inherently flawed" because of the mother's past brain damage. (Appellant's Brief, 8.). The Appellant then argues that the trial court should have declared a mistrial on the basis of the mother's bad memory. (Appellant's Br. 8.) However, the mother's memory of the statement made to her by her daughter never changed, despite the 2 and ½ years between trial and the assault. The mother reported A.M.'s statement to the pastor, the nurse, and to the police and testified to her recollection of the statement at trial and was subject to cross examination. The statement reported by the Mother is consistent with the evidence obtained on the lip swab showing the presence of semen on A.M.'s lips only a few hours after the reported sexual assault as well as the assault itself. This type of cooperation between the A.M.'s statement to Mom that "Tex put his pee pee in my mouth and peed and kept it there until I swallowed." and the presence of semen on the lip swab, is exactly what the Rules of Evidence call statements "having equivalent circumstantial guarantees of trustworthiness." Rules of Evidence 804 (b)(5).

2. **Did the State's late disclosure of A.M.'s unavailability as a witness effect the defenses ability to prepare a defense?**

The Appellant argues that the disclosure of A.M.'s unavailability as a witness at trial did not allow the defense enough time to prepare a defense. (Appellant's Br. 8.) However, the defense cross-examined the witness before she was ruled unavailable due to lack of memory. (Trial Tr. vol. 1, 270-77.) According to W. Va. R. Evid. 804(b)(5) as interpreted in *State v. Edward Charles L., Sr.*, 183 W. Va. 641, 656 398 S.E.2d 123, 138 (1990), "adequate notice of

the statement must be afforded the other party to provide that party a fair opportunity to meet the evidence.” The child’s statements, made to both the Mother and the Nurse were contained in the police report and medical records provided to the defense on January 29, 2007 and May 18, 2007; more than a year before trial. The Appellant, as the trial court notes, had time to prepare for the testimony of the mother and the nurse. (Trial Tr. vol. 1, 202.) Because the Appellant had prepared for the statements of the mother and the nurse, the Appellant had a fair opportunity to meet the evidence and the statements were properly admitted into evidence.

B. CRAWFORD V. WASHINGTON DOES NOT APPLY.

The statements that A.M. made to the mother, Sharlene Simmons, and the nurse, Cynthia Leahy, were properly admitted into evidence because the statements were non-testimonial statements and therefore *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36, 124 S. Ct. 1354 (2004), does not apply.

According to the Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution,

“In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury of the State and district wherein the crime shall have been committed, which district shall have been previously ascertained by law, and to be informed of the nature and cause of the accusation; *to be confronted with the witnesses against him*; to have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his favor, and to have the Assistance of Counsel for his defense” (emphasis added).

This allows a person who is accused of a crime, the right to challenge a witness directly in court under cross-examination. In *Crawford*, the wife of the accused made a statement to the police after a stabbing. *Id.* at 38, 124 S. Ct. at 1357. The woman was prevented from testifying because

of state marital privilege and her previous statement to the police was admitted into evidence. *Id.* at 40, *id.* The United States Supreme Court held in *Crawford* that where a statement is testimonial, the testimony is barred unless the *witness is unavailable and the defense has had a prior opportunity to cross examine the witness.* *Id.* at 54, 124 S. Ct. at 1365 (emphasis added). In contrast, non-testimonial statements are allowed under *Crawford* provided the statement complies with the state's hearsay laws. *Id.* at 68, 124 S. Ct. at 1374. The distinction or definition of what is testimonial or not testimonial was left unsettled in *Crawford.* *Id.*

The United States Supreme Court addresses what qualifies as a testimonial statement more clearly in *Davis v. Washington*, 547 U.S. 813, 126 S. Ct. 2266 (2006). In *Davis*, the Court consolidated two cases in which the witnesses did not appear at trial. In the first case, *Davis v. Washington*, a 911 call identifying the perpetrator of domestic violence was admitted into evidence and was not considered a testimonial statement. The Court reasoned that there was an ongoing emergency and the 911 call was a non-testimonial statement because the call "described current circumstances requiring police assistance." *Id.* at 827, 126 S. Ct. at 2276. In the second case in *Davis*, *Hammon v. Indiana*, the Court determined that statements given to the police during interrogation at scene of the incident were testimonial. *Id.* at 830, 126 S. Ct. at 2278. In this case the Court reasoned that there was no ongoing emergency and that the responding officers were trying to investigate "what happened", not "what is happening" to determine if a crime took place. *Id.*

Subsequent to *Crawford*, the West Virginia Supreme Court adopted the standard barring testimonial statements of a witness who does not appear at trial "unless the witness is unavailable to testify and the accused had a prior opportunity to cross examine the witness."

State v. Mechling, 219 W. Va. 366, 373, 633 S.E.2d 311, 318 (2006). In other words, The West Virginia Supreme Court's interpretation of the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Section 14 of Article III of the West Virginia Constitution is in line with the *Crawford* decision. *Id.* The West Virginia Supreme Court has noted that "we do not perceive that *Crawford*'s largely unexplored ban on 'testimonial hearsay' that has not been tested by cross-examination extends to statements to non-official and non-investigatorial witnesses, made prior to and apart from any governmental investigation" *State v. Ferguson*, 216 W. Va. 420, 423, 607 S.E.2d 526, 529 (2004). This Court notes in *Mechling* that the "existence or lack of government interrogation does not necessarily determine whether a statement is testimonial" and that the guidelines are "flexible and inherently fact based." *Mechling*, 219 W. Va. at 376, 633 S.E.2d at 321. *Mechling* does not fully resolve the question of whether the statements to a non-governmental interrogation are testimonial.

Mechling does provide some help in determining a testimonial statement. *Mechling* distills *Crawford* and *Davis* to three guiding points:

"First, a testimonial statement is, generally, a statement that is made under circumstances which would lead an objective witness reasonably to believe that the statement would be available for use at a later trial. Second, a witness's statement taken by a law enforcement officer in the course of an interrogation is testimonial when the circumstances objectively indicate that there is no ongoing emergency, and that the primary purpose of the witness's statement is to establish or prove past events potentially relevant to later criminal prosecution. A witness's statement taken by a law enforcement officer in the course of an interrogation is non-testimonial when made under circumstances objectively indicating that the primary purpose of the statement is to enable police assistance to meet an ongoing emergency. And third, a court assessing whether a witness's out-of-court statement is "testimonial" should focus more upon the witness's statement, and less upon any interrogator's questions."

Id. at 376-77, 633 S.E.2d at 321-22 (emphasis added).

For the present case, the first point is most relevant because A.M. cannot reasonably expect that the statements made to the mother and nurse would be used at trial. The second point is not relevant to A.M.'s statement to the mother or nurse because the statements were not made to a law enforcement officer. The third point is less clear, but emphasize a need for an "inherently fact based" analysis of the statements. After examining the facts of the current case and applying the *Mechling* decision, the circumstances will objectively show the statements to the mother and the nurse were non-testimonial and therefore *Crawford* does not bar the statements from admission into evidence.

A.M.'s statement to Sharlene Simmons and Nurse Cynthia Leahy are non-testimonial statements because of A.M.'s age and because the statements were made under circumstances in which A.M. would not believe the statement would be used in a judicial proceeding. A.M.'s statements to her mother were not in response to any questions asked by the mother, but was an unsolicited statement to her mom first thing in the morning after the sexual assault. The statement made to Nurse Leahy is also non-testimonial because it was made for the purpose of a medical diagnosis. Because of the declarant's age and because neither statement was made under circumstances in which the 4 year old declarant would expect the statement to be used later in a judicial proceeding, the statements made to the mother and the nurse are non-testimonial.

1. **A.M. COULD NOT REASONABLY BELIEVE THAT HER STATEMENTS WOULD BE USED IN A JUDICIAL PROCEEDING BECAUSE OF HER AGE.**

A.M. could not reasonably believe that her statement would later be used in a judicial proceeding because of her age. A.M.'s age of four years, at the time of the statement, make it very unlikely that she could comprehend, let alone anticipate, that her statements to the mother

and the nurse would be used for trial in the future. The West Virginia Supreme Court has not considered if age is a factor in determining whether the declarant was making a testimonial statement. Other jurisdictions have taken age into consideration. In *Colorado v. Vigil*, the Colorado Supreme Court notes that “expectations derive from circumstances, and, among other circumstances, a person’s age is a pertinent characteristic.” *Colorado v. Vigil*, 127 P.3d 911, 925 (Colo. 2006). *See also Lagunas v. Texas*, 187 S.W.3d 503 (Tex. Ct. App. 2005), (Age and sophistication of the declarant to be a factor in determining if a statement is testimonial); *Minnesota v. Scacchetti*, 711 N.W.2d 508, 516 (Minn. 2006) (unclear if three year old “understood the purpose of the statements” she made to a attending nurse practitioner.)

Both the age and sophistication of A.M. are clearly relevant. A.M. stated to her mother that the Appellant had “peed” in her mouth. (Trial Tr. vol. 2, 13.) This demonstrates the victim’s lack of understanding as to the nature of the act perpetrated on her because she did not understand that what she was forced to ingest was semen rather than urine. Because A.M. did not understand the nature of the act perpetrated on her, it is highly unlikely that she could understand or comprehend that the Appellant’s actions constituted sexual assault and were illegal. Because of this lack of comprehension of the nature of the act, A.M. could not reasonably be expected to know her statement to her mother would be later used at a judicial proceeding.

This is also true for A.M.’s statement to the nurse. Common sense tells us that a 4 year old speaking to a nurse about the “yucky taste” would be hoping the nurse could make her feel better. Common sense tells us a child in A.M.’s position would likely believe that the nurse would make her feel better and rid her of the sore throat and “yucky taste” that she stated she had in her mouth. (Trial Tr. vol. 2, 71; R. at 27.) In *Colorado v. Vigil*, the Colorado Supreme Court

examined the question of whether an objective witness from the position of the declarant, a seven-year-old sexual assault victim in this case, could reasonably believe that the statements given to a doctor would later be used in trial. *Vigil*, 127 P.3d at 924. The court held that an objective witness, in the child's circumstance, would not reasonably believe that statements made to the doctor would later be used at trial and non-testimonial because the declarant would "intend his statements to describe the source of the pain and his symptoms." *Id.* at 926. The declarant in *Vigil* is very similar to the declarant in this case, A.M. An objective witness in A.M.'s position could not reasonably believe that the statement given to Nurse Leahy would later be used at trial and would be more interested in getting rid of the "yucky taste". It is clear, that A.M.'s motive for giving a statement as such would be in an effort to obtain a medical diagnosis and not made with the "expectation of being used prosecutorially." *Crawford* 541 at 51, 124 S. Ct. at 1364.

2 . A.M. COULD NOT REASONABLY BELIEVE THAT HER STATEMENT WOULD BE USED IN A JUDICIAL PROCEEDING BECAUSE OF THE CIRCUMSTANCES IN WHICH THE STATEMENT WAS MADE.

A.M. could not reasonably believe her statements would be used in a judicial proceeding is because the circumstance, in which, A.M.'s statements were made to the mother and the nurse. In the case of the mother, there was no investigation or interrogation that elicited the statement and the statement was made in the home of A.M. and her mother. The statement was unprompted. This bears some resemblance to the situation found in *Mechling* where the declarant volunteered the information that her boyfriend had hit her. *Mechling*, 219 W. Va. at 370, 633 S.E.2d at 315. This Court did not decide whether this was a testimonial statement, but

did seem to indicate a statement that describes “what happened” is potentially a testimonial statement¹. *Id.* at 379, 633 S.E. at 324.

The circumstances in *Mechling* are very different from the present case because the victim in *Mechling* made the statement immediately following the incident and to a party that was aware there may have been an altercation. *Id.* at 370, 633 S.E.2d at 315. An objective witness in the position of the declarant in *Mechling*, could reasonably expect that his or her statement to an intervening neighbor would later be used at trial because the declarant would know the neighbor played a role in preventing more harm and ending the altercation. An objective witness could reasonably anticipate the neighbor would play a role in a later judicial proceeding. As well, because the declarant in *Mechling* was much older and has a higher level of sophistication than A.M., the declarant in *Mechling* could anticipate the volunteered statement would be used at a later trial. In contrast to this, A.M. made this statement randomly, at her home, to the mother immediately upon awakening and upon first seeing her mother after the incident and A.M. knew the mother had no knowledge of what had happened (as she had not been home). A four-year-old is much younger and less sophisticated and would not reasonably believe that excited comments made at home would be used at trial.

The New Jersey Supreme Court considered a very similar situation in *New Jersey v. Buda*, 195 N.J. 278, 949 A.2d 761 (N.J. 2008). In *Buda*, a three-year-old boy, without any prompting, told his mother that “Daddy beat me.” *Id.* at 304, 949 A.2d at 777. The court had to determine if the statement to the mother was testimonial because the boy did not testify. The court found that the declarant’s statement to the mother was non-testimonial and therefore did not violate

¹ It is necessary to note that in *Mechling* the Court found that the record on the statement given to the neighbor was incomplete and that the issue as to whether the statement was testimonial would have to be resolved on remand. Statements given to two policemen investigating the dispute were ruled testimonial. *Id.*

Crawford. Id. The court reasoned that a “spontaneous statement do[es] not bear the indicia of a ‘formal statement to government officers.’” *Id.* In *Buda*, the court notes *Crawford* defines testimony as a “solemn declaration or affirmation made for the purpose of establishing or proving some fact” and a statement to a government official “bears testimony in a sense that a casual remark to an acquaintance does not.” *Id.* at 300, 949 A.2d at 775. The *Buda* Court found the spontaneous comment to the mother was much more like the casual comment to an acquaintance than a statement to government officials. *Id.* at 304, 949 A.2d at 777. Similar to the declarant in *Buda*, A.M.’s statement was an excited and unprompted comment which is not what the United States Supreme Court intends to be a testimonial statement. The statement is not a solemn declaration or affirmation intended to prove a fact. Rather this statement is one made in childlike manner and does not resemble, as *Crawford* suggests is testimonial, a “formal statement to government officers.” *Crawford*, 541 U.S. at 51, 124 S. Ct. at 1364.

In addition to the statement to the mother, the statement to Nurse Leahy is non-testimonial because the circumstance in which the statement was made would not lead the witness to believe it would later be used at a judicial proceeding. Law enforcement was neither involved in the examination of A.M. nor was the exam conducted at a police station. Only Nurse Leahy, the mother, and the child were present during the examination and the examination was conducted at Winchester Medical Center. (Trial Tr. vol. 2, 73.) The absence of law enforcement would lead the declarant to believe that the statement was being used for a medical diagnosis and not for the purposes of being used at trial.

3. **A.M.'S STATEMENT TO THE NURSE IS NON- TESTIMONIAL BECAUSE IT WAS MADE FOR THE PURPOSE OF A MEDICAL DIAGNOSIS AND THE NURSE IS NOT AN AGENT OF LAW ENFORCEMENT.**

A.M.'s statement to Nurse Leahy is non-testimonial and therefore would be admitted under the hearsay exception for medical treatment and diagnosis under W. Va. R. Evid. 803(4). Nurse Leahy's purpose in speaking with A.M. was to assist the doctor in determining what tests may need to get ordered and what treatment might be necessary, and not strictly for the purpose of collecting forensic evidence. Furthermore, A.M.'s statement to the nurse is non-testimonial because the nurse is not an agent of law enforcement and A.M. could not reasonably believe that the statement would later be used at trial.

A.M.'s statement to the forensic nurse is not a testimonial statement because it was made for the purposes of a medical examination. In *State v. Edward Charles L., supra*, that "statements made for the purpose of medical diagnosis or treatment and describing . . . present symptoms, pain or sensations" is not excluded by the hearsay rule. *Id.* at Syl. Pt. 4. In *State v. Pettrey*, 209 W. Va. 449, 549 S.E.2d 323 (2001), this Court held that

"[w]hen a social worker, counselor, or psychologist is trained in play therapy and thereafter treats a child abuse victim with play therapy, the therapist's testimony is admissible at trial under the medical diagnosis or treatment exception to the hearsay rule, West Virginia Rule of Evidence 803(4), *if the declarant's motive in making the statement is consistent with the purposes of promoting treatment* and the content of the statement is reasonably relied upon by the therapist for treatment. *The testimony is inadmissible if the evidence was gathered strictly for investigative or forensic purposes*" (emphasis added).

The West Virginia Supreme Court has very recently decided the question of whether a forensic nurse serves a dual purpose of medical and forensic. In *State v. Payne*, No. 34889, 2010 WL 1838363 (W. Va. May 6, 2010), this Court extended the *Pettrey* standard to forensic nurses and held a "child of sexual abuse or assault victim . . . examined by a forensic nurse trained in

sexual assault examination” is admissible provided that “the declarant’s motive for making the statement was consistent with promoting treatment” Syl. Pt. 6, *Payne*, 2010 WL 1838363, at *1. In *Payne*, the boyfriend of the victim’s mother placed his mouth on the vaginal area of the twelve-year-old victim. *Payne*, 2010 WL 1838363, at *3. The victim was then taken to Winchester Medical Center where forensic nurse, Cynthia Leahy, performed an examination on her. *Id.* This Court held in *Payne* that the evidence gathered was for the dual purpose of a medical examination as well as gathering forensic evidence. *Payne*, 2010 WL 1838363, at *7.

Similar to *Payne*, A.M.’s statement to Nurse Leahy was for the purpose of a medical diagnosis and was describing present symptoms. The medical report that Leahy filed states,

“I was asleep on the couch. Something came out of it and went down my throat. It had a yucky taste. I was asleep while he was doing that. I remember it. I still have a yucky taste from it. I cried this morning because I still had that taste.”

(Trial Tr. vol. 2, 71; R. at 27.) The report also notes that symptoms A.M. experienced at the time of the examination were a “hurt throat” and a remaining “yucky taste.” (Trial Tr. vol. 2, 71; R. at 27.) As noted in *Payne*, there is a “large medical component” to the job of a forensic nurse. *Payne*, 2010 WL 1838363, at *8. The Court found that conversations with the victim are done in order to collect information to make a medical diagnosis and this falls within the hearsay exception. *Payne*, 2010 WL 1838363, at *8. Because the A.M. was describing present symptoms she was experiencing, this fits another exception to the hearsay Rule.

The role of Nurse Leahy was to provide a medical diagnosis as well as collect forensic evidence. Appellant argues that Leahy’s examination of A.M. was a forensic investigation where DNA evidence was gathered. (Appellant’s Br., 4.) However, Leahy’s examination of the victim also includes gathering information about the patient’s medical, medicinal, and surgical past in

addition to a physical examination of the patient's body. (Trial Tr. vol. 2, 64.) The Appellant asserts that "given the nature of this offense there was no physical treatment that was necessary or even possible." (Appellant's Br., 10.) This is simply incorrect. As previously noted, in *Payne*, the sexual assault was a result of the assailant placing his mouth on the vaginal area of the victim." *Payne*, 2010 WL 1838363, at *3. This Court found that there is need to screen for "sexually transmitted illnesses or other injuries that may require further medical evaluation" and the statements made were for the purposes of medical diagnosis. *Payne*, 2010 WL 1838363, at *7-8. The same is true presently. A.M. suffered a sexual assault when genitals were placed in her mouth and because of this assault, similar to *Payne*, there is a need to screen for sexually transmitted illness. Because of this need, Nurse Leahy's examination of the victim is medical in nature as well as forensic. A.M.'s statement satisfies the *Pettrey* requirement because the statement was consistent with the purpose of promoting treatment and Nurse Leahy reasonably relied on the information to make a diagnosis.

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